FILED
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington
12/2/2020 11:42 AM

FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 12/3/2020 BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

99279-7 No. 79959-2-I

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

JASON LOWERY and **JANE DOE LOWERY**, and the Lowery community,

Petitioners,

v.

STATE OF WASHINGTON, ex rel. LISA HUNTER, an individual,

Respondents,

RELATIONSHIPS TOWARD SELF-DISCOVERY, INC., a Washington corporation; LAIRD RICHMOND, JANE DOE RICHMOND, and the Richmond community estate.

Additional Defendants.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Jason Lowery and his marital community (Petitioner or Lowery) bring this Petition for Discretionary Review by the Supreme Court. Petitioner is appellant and one of the defendants in the King County Superior Court case brought by the Relator and the State of Washington (Relator or State).

II. CITATION TO COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

The Court of Appeals, Division I, Case Number 79959-2-I issued a published opinion on November 2, 2020. 2020 WL 6389985. Appendix 1.

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- A. Does a case of first impression interpreting application of the Washington Medicaid False Claims Act (Act) involve an issue of substantial public interest requiring determination by the Supreme Court?
- B. Did the Court of Appeals err in determining that an employee of a State contracted service provider who did not prepare, review, certify or submit fraudulent cost reports be held liable for causing the false record to be made to a government entity?
- C. Should RCW 74.66.020(1)(g) which imposes liability for causing a false record to be submitted to the government entity be limited in application to the parties who prepared, certified and submitted the record?

D. Did the Court of Appeals err in finding joint and several liability after rejecting a finding of conspiracy?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is a case of first impression under the Washington False Claims Act, Chapter 74.66 RCW. Petitioner Lowery appeals the judgment entered against him for causing false reports to be submitted to the State of Washington. Neither statutory interpretation nor the evidence support a judgment against Lowery.

Defendant, Relationships Toward Self-Discovery, Inc. (RTS) contracted with the Washington State Developmental Disabilities Administration (DDA) to provide care services to developmentally disabled clients. Defendant Laird Richmond (Richmond), now deceased, was the owner and administrator of RTS. Lowery was an employee of RTS. Contrary to the assertion in the Court of Appeals opinion, Lowery was not the "Director" of RTS. In 2015 he was appointed Treasurer of RTS responsible for funds and securities.

Relator Lisa Hunter (Hunter) was a bookkeeper for RTS and brings this Qui Tam action. The State of Washington intervened. This action alleges submission of false expense claims in the annual cost reports which reconcile provider costs against monies paid by DDA. Hunter prepared cost reports for 2012, 2013, 2014. Hunter's successor prepared the 2015 report.

Lowery provided Hunter a sleep hours formula based upon a Federal Department of Labor (DOL) audit to determine the number of sleep hours incurred by RTS employees for internal reports. CP 640. If a cost report revealed RTS had been paid for service hours it did not actually provide to clients, it would be required to reimburse DDA for those amounts. Nothing in DDA express policy guidance requires sleep hours to be paid. Appendix 2.

DDA and RTS had regular rate setting meetings to estimate the amount to be paid to RTS for services to each client. The Complaint in this action alleges cost reports submitted by RTS included sleep hours in violation of DDA policy.

All cost reports at issue were prepared by the bookkeeper, Hunter, and submitted to the State by Richmond as owner and administrator of RTS. As administrator for the service provider, Richmond had legal obligations including oversight of all aspects of staffing, policies and procedures, and maintaining financial records. Before assuming duties, an administrator must complete instruction and training. WAC 388-101D-0055.

For each cost report submitted by RTS, administrator Richmond signed a certification which reads:

MISREPRESENTATION OR FALSIFICATION OF ANY INFORMATION CONTAINED IN THIS COST REPORT MAY BE PUNISHBLE BY FINE AND/OR

IMPRISONMENT UNDER STATE OR FEDERAL LAW. I HEREBY CERTIFY that I have read the statement and that I have examined the accompanying cost report and supporting schedules prepared for [service provider's name] and to the best of my knowledge and belief, it is true, correct and complete statement prepared in accordance with applicable instructions, except as noted.

CP 627; RP 116.

Lowery did not sign the certifications, prepare the reports, nor did he review the reports for accuracy or compliance. RP 115. The Complaint alleges Lowery "permitted" the filing of a false claim. CP 110.

The Court of Appeals opinion finds several errors by the trial court. The Court of Appeals struck findings relative to RCW 74.66.020(1)(a-c) and findings of conspiracy. Instead, the Court of Appeals found Lowery jointly and severally liable with RTS and Richmond for violation of 74.66.020(1)(g). That subsection provides as follows:

(g) Knowingly makes, uses, or causes to be made or used a false record or statement material to an obligation to pay or transmit money or property to the government entity, or knowingly conceals or knowingly and improperly avoids or decreases an obligation to pay or transmit money or property to the government entity.

V. ARGUMENT

A. Interpretation of the Washington Medicaid Fraud Statute RCW 74.66 affects a substantial public interest.

Pursuant to Washington Rules of Appellate Procedure 13.4(b), a petition for discretionary review can be granted – if the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court. RAP 13.4(b)(4) (Westlaw 2020). A substantial public interest exists where the Court of Appeals' holding below will affect numerous other individuals. See, e.g., *State v. Watson*, 155 Wn.2d 574, 577 (2005).

There are no Washington Cases interpreting or applying RCW 74.66 et al - the Medicaid Fraud False Claims Statute. Not only does this case involve a case of first impression but pertains to the application and interpretation of a statute which the Legislature expressly adopted to provide the State with another tool to combat fraud which has resulted in over \$5 Billion in total recoveries to the State between 1996 and 2009.

Yet, despite the State's new arsenal at its disposal, the Legislature also made clear that this statute was not intended to focus on clerical errors or mistakes in interpretation but was to be used as a weapon to lower health care costs across the State.

By failing to review the trial and appeal's Courts errors, the Supreme Court would leave intact a decision by both the Trial and Appeals Court which undercuts the policy goals the statute aims to carry out. Contractors with Medicaid will face increased compliance costs - only increasing the burden of the taxpayer.

The public interest involved at bar requires review and thus the petition must be granted.

The Court of Appeals opinion affirming liability as to RTS, Richmond, and Lowery jointly sets Washington apart from federal False Claim Act decisions. The Court of Appeals specifically rejected the trial court's finding of conspiracy. Nonetheless, the Court of Appeals found RTS, Richmond, and Lowery liable "as individuals for causing false statements material to their obligations to pay the State". Opinion, p. 14. The obligation to pay the State is an obligation of the service provider, RTS. The only party certifying the false report to the State was its owner and administrator, Richmond. Mere knowledge of the submission of claims and knowledge of the falsity of those claims is insufficient to establish liability under the federal False Claims Act. *United States ex rel Sikkenga v. Regence Bluecross Blueshield of Utah*, 472 F.3d 702, 714 (10th Cir 2006).

A proper interpretation of the Act requires that absent of finding of conspiracy, participation in setting corporation policy by an employee or

officer of a corporation cannot be the basis of liability under the Act. *Huey* v. *Summit Healthcare Association, Inc.*, 2011 WL 814898.

B. Lowery did not knowingly make, use, or cause a false record submission to the State.

The evidence is undisputed that the cost reports at issue were not prepared by Lowery. They were prepared by the Relator, Hunter. They were reviewed, certified, and submitted to the State by the RTS administrator Richmond.

The Court of Appeals misinterprets Lowery's position that lack of ownership or control of RTS excludes potential liability. Lowery concedes he is a "person" defined in RCW 74.66.020(1) with potential liability pursuant to RCW 74.66.020(1)(g). The Court of Appeals correctly finds that Lowery is a "person" subject to potential liability.

The State must prove the requisite intent to prevail on a claim under RCW 74.66.020(1)(g). There must be a "knowing" violation.

The legislature defined "knowing" to mean that a defendant has actual knowledge of the information; acts in deliberate ignorance of the truth or falsity of the information; or acts in reckless disregard of the truth or falsity of the information. RCW 74.66.010(7)(a).

Additionally, the State must show "materiality". In this case of first impression, the Court should look to federal precedent to help guide the

interpretation of the Act where the texts of the federal and state statutes are similar. *Barvo v. Dolsen Cos.*, 125 Wash.2d 745, 754 (1955). As federal case law illustrates, materiality is a demanding standard because the False Claims Act is not an "all-purpose anti-fraud" statute. *Universal Health Services v. United States ex rel Escobar*, 136 S.Ct. 1989, 195 L.Ed.2d 348 (2016).

Federal courts have refused to allow the government to prevail on a false claims act violation where the claim is based upon a difference in interpretation of policy. *US ex rel Hindow v. University of Phoenix*, 461 F.3d 1166, 1174 (9th Cir. 2006).

It is undisputed that the Federal Department of Labor (DOL) conducted an audit of RTS in 2000 requiring compliance with federal labor regulations including 29 CFR 785.22. Lowery's testimony and testimony from the State investigators confirmed this audit. RP 118 – 120. The DOL audit formed the basis for Lowery's formula for calculation of sleep hours. The Court of Appeals opinion concludes Lowery acted knowingly because he incorrectly relied upon the federal DOL audit in calculating sleep hours. DOL regulations conflict with DDA policies on sleep hours. See Policy Guide, 6.04. The Court of Appeals opinion concludes the DOL has no "authority to provide guidance on Washington DDA policies concerning reimbursement of patient services". Opinion, p. 13.

The foregoing overlooks the definition of knowing and knowingly at RCW 74.66.010(7). Knowing and knowingly mean that a person has actual knowledge of the information; acts in deliberate ignorance of the truth or falsity of the information; or acts in reckless disregard of the truth or falsity of the information. Accepting Relator Hunter's testimony that she brought her "concern" to Lowery continually year after year she nonetheless prepared cost reports for 2012, 2013, 2014. It is undisputed Lowery believed RTS was required to comply with the federal DOL regulations on sleep hours. The evidence does not support a finding of knowingly submitting false statements to the State.

The Act does not define "causation" or "cause" nor how it should be applied. RCW 74.66.010(1)(g) requires a defendant "Knowingly makes, uses, or causes to be made or used a false record or statement . . . ". Applying Washington's common law terms, "caused" is interpreted as "proximate causation". *State v. Pacheco*, 125 Wash.2d 150, 154, 882 P.2d 183 (1994) ("When a term is not defined in a statute, the court may look to common law or a dictionary definition").

In general, proximate cause is defined by two elements, cause in fact and legal causation. *Christen v. Lee*, 113 Wash.2d 459, 507, 780 P.2d 1307 (1989). Cause in fact refers to "but for" consequences, while legal causation is a policy consideration determining whether the connection between the

ultimate result and the act of defendant is too remote or too insubstantial to impose liability. See *Schooley v. Pinch's Deli Market Inc.*, 134 Wash.2d 468, 478 – 79, 951 P.2d 749 (1998).

Proximate causation is a standard used in federal courts. *United States v. Luce*, 83 F.3d 999, 1012 – 1013 (7th Cir. 2017). This standard has been adopted because is separates the wheat from the chaff, allowing federal false claim act claims to proceed against those who can be fairly said to have caused a claim to be presented to the government while winnowing out those claims with only an attenuated link between the defendant's specific actions and the presentation of the claim. *Luce*, supra at 1012 – 1013.

Each cost report must be reviewed for accuracy by administrator Richmond prior to submission. The administrator also signs a certification. Lowery did not sign the certifications nor did he review for accuracy or compliance, nor was he under a duty to due so. RP 115. Richmond reviewed, verified and certified for accuracy each cost report. RP 115. Lowery did not prepare the cost reports RP 240 – 251. If liability is extended to Lowery, it is clear the Relator herself should be liable because she actually prepared the reports.

Causation under the act should be clarified to mean proximate cause.

Lowery neither caused nor permitted a false record to be made under

circumstances where the cost reports were submitted to the RTS administrator who had the regulatory obligation to review the accuracy and ensure compliance with DDA regulations. WAC 388-101D-0055. Richmond was the proximate cause of the submission of any false reporting.

C. Joint and several liability does not apply absent a finding of conspiracy under RCW 74.66.020(1)(c).

The Court of Appeals opinion found error with the trial court's determination that Lowery conspired to violate the act. The trial court's "findings related to conspiracy are error." Opinion, p. 13 – 14. Instead, the Court of Appeals interpreted the trial court's ruling that concerted action by Lowery, Richmond and RTS established individual and joint and several liability.

To the extent the Court of Appeals opinion holds Lowery separately liable for violation of the Act, no such finding by the trial court was made. The trial court found Richmond and Lowery acted together and in concert causing the cost reports to be filed. The trial court concluded Lowery and Richmond "conspired with each other" to violate the Act. CP 646. Additionally, the evidence does not support a finding of individual liability by Lowery where he did not prepare, certify or submit the cost reports.

The Court of Appeals opinion rejects a finding of conspiracy under RCW 74.66.010(1)(c) which imposes liability if a person "Conspires to

commit one or more of the violations in this subsection (1)". Yet the court affirms violation of RCW 74.66.010(1)(g) asserting joint and several liability while acknowledging the State did not allege Lowery conspired to violate the Act.

The Act should not be interpreted to adjudge concerted activity under (1)(g) while specifically rejecting conspiracy liability on (1)(c). Federal False Claim Act cases make clear that only a conspiracy to defraud the government renders joint and several liability. See *Peterson v. Weinberger*, 508 F.2d 45, 49 (5th Cir. 1975); *United States v. Bd. of Educ. of City of Union City*, 697 F.Supp. 167, 177 (Dist. N.J. 1988); *United States v. Entin*, 750 F.Supp. 512 (S.D. Fla. 1990). ¹

Substantial public interest of state service providers and employees compels clarification of the applicability of the doctrine of joint and several liability to the Act where a finding of conspiracy is specifically rejected.

Under Washington law RCW 4.22.030 addresses joint and several liability in tort actions. The fault of each defendant is determined and each defendant is normally liable only for its proportionate share of plaintiff's damages. Several liability is the default with joint and several being the

12

There are no cases found by counsel for petitioner where joint and several liability is imposed absent a finding of conspiracy to defraud the government.

exception. Joint and several liability may exist if multiple parties were acting in concert or if one party was acting as agent or servant of another. RCW 4.22.070(1)(a). See *Afoa v. Port of Seattle*, 176 Wash.2d 460, 421 P.3d 903 (2018).

Lowery cannot be held independently liable pursuant to the intracorporate conspiracy doctrine. That doctrine holds that the acts of corporate officers in carrying out duties for a corporation are attributed to the corporation itself thereby negating the multiplicity of actors necessary for the formation of a conspiracy or concerted action. *McAndrew v. Lockheed Martin*, 206 F.3d 1031, 1036 (11th Cir. 2000). Simply put, under the doctrine, a corporation cannot conspire with its employees, and its employees, when acting in the scope of their employment, cannot conspire among themselves.

Court have found an exception to this doctrine through the Independent Interest Exception. If the agent had a "wholly separate and independent interest" in carrying out the actions, the doctrine would not apply.

No benefit to Lowery exists justifying the Independent Interest Exception. Courts have rejected the exception when the benefit is a salary, bonus, or commission because compensation is not a sufficient personal interest to trigger the exception. The compensation is directly tied to the corporation's success and those interests cannot be separated. *HRCC*, *Ltd*. *v. Hardrock Café International*, 302 F.Supp.3d 1319, 1325 – 26 (M.D. Fl 2016).

Liability as to Lowery, whether individual or joint, is not established in this case absent a finding of conspiracy or an express finding of individual liability.

VI. CONCLUSION

Petitioner requests review of the Court of Appeals decision and order reversing the judgment, dismissing the action as to Jason Lowery and the Lowery community only.