FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 2/4/2021 1:58 PM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

NO. 99279-7

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

JASON LOWERY,

Petitioner,

v.

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

MATTHEW T. KUEHN, WSBA #30419 KATRINA KING, WSBA #51717 Assistant Attorneys General Medicaid Fraud Control Division P.O. Box 40114 Olympia, WA 98504 (360) 586-8888 (360) 586-8877-FAX

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

VI. ARGUMENT

Pursuant to RAP 13.4(b), a petition for review will be accepted by the Supreme Court only under certain limited circumstances. Lowery only raises substantial public interest as grounds for the involvement of this Court. Pet. for Review at 5-7; *See* RAP 13.4(b)(4). But neither of Lowery's disagreements with the decision below warrant review under this Court's rules. The Court of Appeals' determination that substantial evidence supports the trial court's fact-specific findings as to causation and intent does not present an issue of substantial public interest. The same is true for Lowery's contention, which he failed to raise at trial or on direct appeal, that the trial court erred in applying joint and several liability.²

Comparing this case with the case cited by Lowery to support his

²Notably, the Court of Appeals' decision primarily reviewed and affirmed the trial court's findings of fact on substantial evidence review, and it is those substantial evidence determinations that Lowery challenges. *Lowery*, 15 Wn. App.2d at 138-41. The only issue of law considered by the Court was whether Lowery was a "person" subject to liability under WAFCA, *Id.* at 135-36, but Lowery does not seek review of that determination. To the contrary, he acknowledges that the Court of Appeals was correct on that point. Pet. for Review at 7.

claim of substantial public interest, *State v. Watson*, 155 Wn.2d 574, 122 P.3d 903 (2005), only reinforces this point. Pet. for Review at 5. The underlying facts of *Watson* set forth a strong demonstration of an emergent issue that would create substantial public interest. In *Watson*, the court was responding to a set of circumstances primed to affect every Pierce County criminal sentencing in which the drug sentencing alternatives could be at issue. *Id.* at 577.

By contrast, here, the findings challenged by Lowery applied well-established legal standards—proximate causation and actual knowledge—to Lowery's specific factual situation. Unlike *Watson*, this case does not create a circumstance in which any class of individuals will be broadly and unexpectedly affected by the Court of Appeals' decision. There is no risk of unnecessary litigation and confusion on a common issue if this Court rejects review.

Lowery also points to the potential impact of the underlying statute, WAFCA, as an enforcement tool. But the importance of WAFCA as a statute, standing alone, does not justify granting review of this particular case. Notably, Lowery makes statements (without citation) about the total scope of WAFCA's impact, inaccurately claiming that it has "resulted in over \$5 Billion in total recoveries to the State between 1996 and 2009." Pet. for Review at 5. Setting aside the clearly erroneous dollar amount, RCW

74.66 was not enacted until June 2012. *See* 2012 Wash. Legis. Serv. Ch. 241 (S.S.B. 5978).

Lowery's arguments amount to no more than disagreement with the Court of Appeals' clear and coherent application of RCW 74.66 and determination that substantial evidence supports the trial court's findings of fact. Lowery's disagreements with those findings are insufficient to confer substantial public interest, and this Court should decline his invitation to overturn the well-reasoned decision below.

A. Lowery's Disagreement With the Court of Appeals' Substantial Evidence Findings Regarding Causation and Intent Does Not Warrant Review

The Court of Appeals correctly applied RCW 74.66 in determining that substantial evidence supports the trial court's findings regarding causation and intent. Lowery argues that the Court of Appeals misinterpreted RCW 74.66 and erroneously found him liable under the statute. This argument hinges on Lowery's claimed lack of knowledge of his employer's actions. But these fact-specific issues were properly adjudicated below and Lowery presents no justification for review.

The Court of Appeals properly noted that the questions of whether Lowery caused a false statement to be submitted, and whether he acted knowingly in violating the statute, are both questions of fact. *Lowery* at 138-39; *see also Hertog ex rel. S.A.H. v. City of Seattle*, 138 Wn.2d 265,

275, 979 P.2d 400 (1999). Because substantial evidence exists in the record to support both findings of liability, the appellate court affirmed the trial court's decision. *See McCleary v. State*, 173 Wn.2d 477, 514, 269 P.3d 227 (2012). Lowery's arguments are no more than restatements of the same unsuccessful claims regarding his knowledge that he made at summary judgment, at trial, and on appeal.

First, with regard to causation, Lowery claims that because he did not sign the certifications on the cost reports or review them for accuracy or compliance, it was Richmond—who signed the reports—who should be liable. Pet. for Review at 10-11. This is precisely the unsuccessful claim Lowery made at trial and on direct appeal. But as the Court of Appeals held, Lowery's characterization of his role as a mere "conduit" is "not supported by the record." Lowery, 15 Wn. App.2d at 138. Rather, Hunter testified that Lowery was "much more 'hands on' in the preparation of cost reports than Richmond," that Lowery "gave her the formula with which to determine the number of sleep hours to submit in the cost reports," and that Lowery "would adjust the formula to make sure it was 'on target." *Id.* at 138-39. Hunter also testified that when she raised her concerns, Lowery responded that "[S]omething has to be done. I'm going to lose my business and my house." Id. at 139. Lowery's Petition completely ignores this evidence, and any disagreement he might have with the trial court's

assessment of Hunter's credibility does not present an appropriate ground for this Court's review. As the Court of Appeals concluded, the record "is sufficient to persuade a rational, fair-minded person that Lowery caused the false statements in the cost reports to be submitted." *Id*.³

Second, with regard to intent, Lowery claims that the decision below "concludes [he] acted knowingly because he incorrectly relied on the federal DOL audit in calculating sleep hours." Pet. for Review at 8. This is not an accurate summation of the decision below. Rather, the Court of Appeals relied on Hunter's testimony that she brought her concerns about the cost reports' noncompliance with DDA regulations directly to Lowery "continually ... year after year," and the trial court's finding that "Lowery's testimony that he believed the reporting of unpaid sleep hours was permissible was not credible." *Lowery*, 15 Wn. App.2d at 141. In the face of this evidence, the Court of Appeals correctly determined that Lowery's claimed reliance on irrelevant DOL regulations did not defeat the evidence of his actual knowledge of noncompliance. *Id.* at 140-41.

Finally, and further meriting against review of the Court of Appeals' substantial evidence determination, Lowery made no assignment of error to

٠

³Lowery also asserts that "[c]ausation under the act should be clarified to mean proximate cause" (Pet. for Review at 10), but he does not explain how the trial court—or the Court of Appeals—applied any standard other than proximate cause in evaluating his role in submitting the false statements.

any specific factual determination by the trial court. Unchallenged findings of fact are accepted as verities upon appeal. *McCleary*, 173 Wn.2d at 514; *In re Matter of Custody of A.T. and S.T.*, 11 Wn. App. 451 P.3d 1132, 1138 (2019).

B. Lowery's Unpreserved Challenge to the Trial Court's Application of Joint and Several Liability Does Not Warrant Review

Lowery did not contest the trial court's determination that he was jointly and severally liable for violating WAFCA, nor did he challenge it on direct appeal. *Lowery* 15 Wn. App.2d at 142. He now claims for the first time (Pet. for Review at 11-14) that the trial court erred because joint and several liability can only be applied following a finding of conspiracy under RCW 74.66.020(1)(g).

As an initial matter, Lowery waived this argument by failing to raise it before the trial court or on appeal. As the Court of Appeals noted, despite challenging the conspiracy finding, "Lowery does not challenge the trial court's determination that he can be jointly and severally liable under the statute. He has not argued that liability should be apportioned or that he cannot be jointly and severally liable." *Lowery*, 15 Wn. App.2d at 142. In other words, this petition for review is the first point at which Lowery has objected to the finding of joint and several liability. His unpreserved argument does not justify a grant of review, and he has not alleged, let alone

shown, that it would fall within any of the exceptions to RAP 2.5(a). See Bennett v. Hardy, 113 Wn.2d 912, 784 P.2d 1258 (1990); RAP 2.5(a).

In any event, although the Court of Appeals struck the trial court's conspiracy finding for lack of notice (rather than lack of evidence), joint and several liability does not turn on a finding under WAFCA's conspiracy section. Rather, the trial court found that Lowery and Richmond acted in concert to submit false cost reports. CP 637, 638, 639, and 640. Based upon this unchallenged finding, Lowery and Richmond were "consciously act(ing) together in an unlawful manner." See Kottler v. State, 136 Wn.2d 437, 48-49, 963 P.2d 834 (1998). This finding establishes the predicate for joint and several liability. RCW 4.22.070(1)(a); See Gilbert H. Moen Co. v. Island Steel Erectors, Inc. 75 Wn. App. 480, 487-88, 878 P.2d 1246 (1994), reversed on other grounds, 128 Wn.2d 745, 912 P.2d 472 (1996). Lowery's contention regarding the federal False Claims Act (Pet. for Review at 12) also misstates the law: joint and several liability is in fact the default rule in federal False Claims Act cases involving multiple defendants.4

-

⁴ See Mortgages, Inc. v. U.S. Dist. Court for Dist. of Nev., 934 F.2d 209, 212 (9th Cir. 1991) ("[w]here one or more persons have committed a fraud upon the government in violation of the FCA, each is joint and severally liable for the treble damages and statutory penalty"); United States v. Cabrera-Diaz, 106 F. Supp. 2d 234, 242 (D.P.R. 2000) ("[a]s with other civil claims, when two or more persons act in concert in violation of the False Claims Act, they are jointly and severally liable"); Civ. Qui Tam Actions 7366216, § 2.10 Joint and Several Liability (Dec. 2020) ("Under most case law interpreting the FCA, where more than one person has committed a violation of the Act, each is jointly and severally

Lowery now claims that he should not be liable either jointly or severally, because "the evidence does not support a finding of individual liability by Lowery where he did not prepare, certify or submit the cost reports," and because he disagrees with the trial court's finding that he and Richmond acted in concert. Pet. for Review at 11-12. These unpreserved factual disputes regarding Lowery's and Richmond's roles in submitting fraudulent cost reports do not merit review.

VII. CONCLUSION

Lowery's petition does not present an issue of substantial public interest, nor does he raise any other reason why this Court should grant review. The State respectfully requests that this Court deny review.